
 

 

CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

Council Meeting Agenda 

November 06, 2023, 6:00 PM 

Gary McCullough Chambers, Dahlonega City Hall 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council 
meetings should notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at 706-864-6133. 

Vision – Dahlonega will be the most welcoming, thriving, and inspiring community in North Georgia 

Mission Statement - Dahlonega, a City of Excellence, will provide quality services through ethical 
leadership and fiscal stability, in full partnership with the people who choose to live, work, and visit. 
Through this commitment, we respect and uphold our rural Appalachian setting to honor our thriving 
community of historical significance, academic excellence, and military renown. 

CALL TO ORDER AND WELCOME 

PRAYER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

APPROVAL OF CONSENT AGENDA 

1. 2024 Meeting Dates - Public Notice - Strategic Priority #3 - Communication 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk  

2. Contract Renewal - Jarrard Water Services (JWS) – Strategic Priority #1 - Infrastructure 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

3. Mailbox Ordinance 2023-06 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

4. Renewal of Probation Contract 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

5. 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication 

Allison Martin, Finance Director 

PUBLIC COMMENT – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

a. City Council Meeting Minutes - October 2, 2023 - Strategic Priority #3 - Communication 

Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk  

b. City Council Work Session Minutes – October 16th, 2023 – Strategic Priorities #3 - 
Communication  

Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk 

APPOINTMENT, PROCLAMATION & RECOGNITION:  

1. Appointment of Assistant City Clerk – Sarah Hunsinger – Strategic Priority #3 
Communication  

Mary Csukas, City Clerk 

2. Proclamation - Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc 

JoAnne Tayor, Mayor 

3. 2023 Community Helping Place Holiday Ornament  

- Page 1 -



Melissa G. Line, LMSW, Executive Director, Community Helping Place 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 

CITY REPORTS: 

4. Financial Report - September 2023 (presented as unaudited) 

Allison Martin, City Manager 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS: 

5. Zoning Map Amendment - (Parcel No. D11-033) Ordinance 2023-09 

Doug Parks, City Attorney 

CONTRACTS & AGREEMENTS: 

OTHER ITEMS: 

6. 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 Communications 

Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

COMMENTS – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

      Clerk Comments 
      City Manager Comments 
      City Attorney Comments  
      City Council Comments 
      Mayor Comments 

ADJOURNMENT 

- Page 2 -



 
 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

 
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 

* Wednesday, January 10th Monday, January 22nd 

* Wednesday, February 14th Monday, February 26th 
* Wednesday, March 13 th Monday, March 25th 
* Wednesday, April 10th Monday, April 22nd 

* Wednesday, May 8th Monday, May 27th 

* Wednesday, June 12th Monday, June 24th 
* Wednesday, July 10th Monday, July 22nd 

* Wednesday, August 14th Monday, August 26th 
* Wednesday, September 11th Monday, September 23rd 

* Thursday, October 10th Monday, October 28th 

* Wednesday, November 13th Monday, November 25th 
* Wednesday, December 11th Monday, December 16th

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Public Notice 2024 
 
Notice is hereby given that the Dahlonega City Council will hold the 
Regular Council Meeting on the first Monday of each month at 6:00 
p.m. except for January, July, and September. January will be held on 
Tuesday due to a State Holiday observance by Chief Judge Raymond E. 
George. September will be held the following Tuesday, and July will be 
the next Monday due to the holiday. The meetings for the Regular 
Council Meeting: 

Tuesday, January 2, 2024 

Monday, February 5, 2024 

Monday, March 4, 2024 

Monday, April 1, 2024 

Monday, May 6, 2024 

Monday, June 3, 2024 

Monday, July 8, 2024 – 4th of July  

Monday, August 5, 2024 

Tuesday, September 3, 2024 – Labor Day 

Monday, October 7, 2024 

Monday, November 4, 2024 

Monday, December 2, 2024 
 

The Dahlonega City Council will hold a Work Session on the 
third Monday of each month at 4:00 p.m. Due to a holiday, 
January will be held the following Tuesday, and July will be 
held the following Monday. The Work Sessions are open 
meetings. However, there will be no designated time for 

public comment. The meetings for the Work Session: 
Tuesday, January 16, 2024- Martin Luther King 

Monday, February 19, 2024 

Monday, March 18, 2024 

Monday, April 15, 2024 

Monday, May 20, 2024 

Monday, June 17, 2024 

Monday, July 22, 2024 – 4th of July  

Monday, August 19, 2024 

Monday, September 16, 2024 

Monday, October 21, 2024 

Monday, November 18, 2024 

Monday, December 16, 2024 

The City of Dahlonega Downtown Development Authority’s regular 
meetings are held on the first Thursday of each month at 8:30 a.m. Due 
to the holiday, the July meeting will be held on the following Thursday. The 
meetings for the Downtown Development Authority: 

Thursday, January 4, 2024 

Thursday, February 1, 2024 

Thursday, March 7, 2024 

Thursday, April 4, 2024 

Thursday, May 2, 2024 

Thursday, June 6, 2024 

Thursday, July 11, 2024 – 4th of July 

Thursday, August 1, 2024 

Thursday, September 5, 2024 

Thursday, October 3, 2024 

Thursday, November 7, 2024 

Thursday, December 5, 2024 

 
The City of Dahlonega Historic Preservation Commission Work Session is 
held on the second Wednesday of each month. Regular meetings are held 
on the fourth Monday of each month; both are held at 6:00 p.m., and 
exception dates are underlined. The meeting dates for the Historic 

Preservation Commission 2024 are listed below. 
Work Session Regular Meetings 

The City of Dahlonega Planning Commission’s regular 
meetings are held on the first Tuesday of each month at 6:00 
p.m. Due to the holiday, January, February, May, September, 
October, and November will be held the following 
Wednesday. The meetings for the Planning Commission: 

Wednesday, January 3, 2024 

Wednesday, February 7, 2024 

Tuesday, March 5, 2024 

Tuesday, April 2, 2024 

Wednesday, May 8, 2024 – Court  

Tuesday, June 4, 2024 

Tuesday, July 2, 2024 

Tuesday, August 6, 2024 

Wednesday, September 4, 2024 – Labor Day 

Wednesday, October 9, 2024 – Court  

Wednesday, November 6, 2024- Election 

Tuesday, December 3, 2024 
 

❖  The Regular Council meetings are open public 

meetings and will have a designated time for 

public comments. 
❖   The City Council may meet in Executive Sessions, 

closed to the public, as part of Regular and 
Special Called meetings to discuss specific real 
estate, personnel, and legal matters limited by 
law.  Final actions from Executive Sessions occur in 
open meetings. 

❖   Special called meetings of the Council, the Board of   
Zoning  Appeals,  Downtown  Development 
Authority,  Planning  Commission,  and  Historic 
Preservation C o m m i s s i o n  may be called as 
needed and require separate advance notice. 

❖  Cancellations of any of the meetings mentioned 
above will be posted on the City of Dahlonega 
website,  www.dahlonega.gov,  and outside the 
front door of City Hall and sent to the Dahlonega 
Nugget. - Page 3 -

http://www.dahlonega.gov/


 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: October 31, 2023 

TITLE: Contract Renewal - Jarrard Water Services (JWS) – Strategic Priority #1 - 
Infrastructure 

PRESENTED BY: Allison Martin, City Manager 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Approval of contract renewal over $50,000 

 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Jarrard Water Services (John Jarrard’s company) has provided part-time consulting services to the 
water and wastewater departments of the City since January 1, 2020. A base one-year contract was 
extended in 2022 for another fiscal year in the amount of $4,458 paid per month, or $53,496.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

Already approved budgeted item – no additional impact.  No additional staff was hired to replace 
John’s full-time position. The contract renewal is presented with a 3% increase to $4,592 or $55,101. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approve the accompanying contract renewal.  There is a bona fide need for John’s continued work 

for the City. John’s involvement is material to ongoing discussions regarding increasing water sales, 

future capital projects, shifts John covers for vacations and illness of staff, and ongoing mentoring he 

provides to water and wastewater plant staff. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Motion to approve the renewal of the contract with Jarrard Water Services.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

JWS Contract 2023 FY24 

 

- Page 4 -



 

 

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 

 This Professional Services Agreement (this “Agreement”) is made and entered 

into this _____ day of ______________________, 2023, to be effective October 1, 

2023 (“Effective Date”), by and between the City of Dahlonega (“City”) and Jarrard 

Water Services, Inc., located at 12 Jarrard Drive, Dahlonega, Georgia 30533 (“Service 

Provider”). 

 WHEREAS, the City wishes to obtain the professional services of the Service 

Provider, and; 

 WHEREAS, the Service Provider has the knowledge, skill, and capability to 

perform such services for the City. 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, the parties, intending to 

be legally bound, hereby agree to the following: 

1. Services.  The Service Provider is hereby retained by the City.  The Service 

Provider agrees to provide the services set forth in Exhibit A attached hereto 

and incorporated herein by this reference (the “Services”). 

 

2. Services Requirements. Service Provider agrees to use sound and 

professional principles and practices in accordance with normally accepted 

industry standards in rendering Services hereunder, and Service Provider 

further agrees that performance shall reflect the best professional knowledge, 

skill, and judgment of Service Provider.  Service Provider shall furnish 

competent personnel for the fulfillment of its obligations. If the City deems 

Service Provider personnel unsatisfactory to perform Service due to a failure 

by such personnel to comply with the terms and conditions imposed on 

Service Provider as set forth herein, such personnel shall be removed 

immediately.   

 

3. Payment.  The City agrees to pay the Service Provider monthly at $4,592, for 

Services completed in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  Service 

Provider shall not incur or charge the City any other fees or expenses without 

the prior written authorization of the City.  Performance beyond the limitations 

set forth in this Agreement (either financial or time) shall be at the sole risk 

and responsibility of the Service Provider, and the City shall not be obligated 

to pay for Services exceeding the funding or contract period of this 

Agreement. 

 

- Page 5 -



 

 

4. Insurance.  Insurance requirements are specified in Exhibit A attached hereto.   

 

5. Licenses.  License requirements are specified in exhibit A attached hereto. 

 

6. Term. The term of this Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and 

expire at the end of the City’s fiscal year (September 30), unless this 

Agreement is otherwise extended.  Service Provider may terminate this 

agreement by providing thirty (30) days' written notice to the other party. 

 

7. Restriction on Competing Activities.  During the term of this Agreement and 

continuing during any renewal of this Agreement, Service Provider shall not 

engage in consulting and advisory services for any entities operating a water 

or wastewater system within twenty miles of the current City of Dahlonega 

water treatment plant without providing a minimum thirty days’ notice to and 

obtaining the subsequent written consent of the City of Dahlonega.  Excepted 

from this prohibition is the existing contract between the Service Provider and 

the U.S. Army installation commonly known as Camp Merrill or the Ranger 

Camp. 

 

8. Annual Increase.  Should there be no change to the Scope of Work, the 

Service Provider shall be entitled to an increase in the monthly rate for 

services provided in an amount not to exceed the percentage of funds set 

aside to provide compensation increases to City employees in the Fiscal Year 

the contract, or extension, is in force.  

 

9. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, including the exhibit attached hereto, 

represents the entire agreement between the parties hereto and supersedes 

all prior and contemporaneous written or oral agreements and all other 

communications between the parties relating to these Services to be 

rendered hereunder.  Any additional, deletions or modifications shall not be 

binding on either party unless accepted and approved in writing by duly 

authorized representatives of both parties.  In the event of any contradictory 

provisions between this agreement and the terms of any Exhibit hereto or any 

purchase order or other documents issued by the City or Service Provider in 

connection herewith, the terms set forth in the body of this Agreement shall 

prevail. 

 

10. Severability.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed severable, 

and if any portion shall be held invalid, illegal, or unenforceable for any 

reason, the remainder of this Agreement shall be effective and binding upon 

the parties, unless to do so would clearly violate the present legal and valid 

intention of the parties hereto.  

- Page 6 -



 

[EXECUTION ON FOLLOWING PAGE] 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Professional Services Agreement has been duly 

executed by the authorized representatives of the parties hereto as of the date first set 

forth above.   

 

 

                                                                    THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA                         

 

 

By: ____________________________ 

Name: ________Allison Martin_______ 

Title: ________City Manager________ 

 

 

JARRARD WATER SERVICES, INC. 

By: ____________________________ 

Name: _John A. Jarrard____________ 

Title: _CFO, CEO & Secretary_______ 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM:     REVIEWED BY:   

 

By: ____________________________   By: ____________________________ 

Name: _J. Douglas Parks___________   Name: _JoAnne Taylor_____________ 

Title: _____City Attorney____________   Title: ______Mayor________________ 

 

 

 

- Page 7 -



 

 

EXHIBIT A SERVICES 

 

1. Scope of Services 

 Provide management services to the City as to City departments 

numbered 32, 35, 37, and 38, for the existing water and wastewater plant 

operations. 

 Provide a biweekly status review of the plant operations. 

 Provide project management services for new capital improvements and 

repairs of existing facilities. 

 Provide onsite training for supervisors and operators. 

 Collect historic operations data, plant drawings, and previous reports and 

correspondence.  

 Generate Meeting Agenda documentation for City elected officials and 

staff and prepare government reporting documents. 

 Meet with City staff to discuss and agree to the projected demands and to 

identify the City’s desire to plan for growth including additional “reserve 

capacity” to facilitate other unspecified further growth. 

 Conduct on-site meetings to gather additional information and review how 

the plant is currently operated and make recommendations on how to 

improve efficiency with either operational changes and renovations or with 

new improvements. 

2. Insurance Requirements: 

 General Liability ($1,000,000 Minimum per accident) 

 Professional Errors and Omissions ($1,000,000 minimum per accident) 

 Automotive ($100,000 minimum) 

 Worker’s Compensation ($500,000) if required.  Owner of JWS not 

covered under Worker’s Compensation. 

3. License Requirements:  

 Georgia Class 1 Water Treatment License 

 Georgia Class 1 Wastewater Treatment License 

 Georgia Driver’s License (Class “C” minimum requirement) 

 

 

 

- Page 8 -



 

 

 

DATE: 11/6/2023 

TITLE: Mailbox Ordinance 2023-06 

PRESENTED BY: Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Establishing a Mailbox Ordinance to implement a policy addressing regulations of mailbox installation 
in the City. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

 

This type of ordinance addresses a suggestion made in the City’s risk management review.   

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

 

No applicable. 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION: 

 

Approval is recommended. 

 

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS: 

 

Motion to approve Ordinance 2023-06.  

 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

Mailbox ordinance final. 

 

 

 

- Page 9 -



 

 

 

ORDINANCE 2023-06 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CODE OF THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA TO ADD 

REGULATIONS CONCERNING MAILBOX INSTALLATION 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council desire to promote the public health, safety, and general 

welfare of the residents of the city; and, 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council wish to eliminate hazardous construction of mailboxes 

on  the public rights of way within the City; and 

WHEREAS, The Mayor and City Council, in order to implement that policy, wish to address 

regulations of mailbox installation  in the City; and 

NOW THEREFORE, The Mayor and City Council of the City of Dahlonega while in Regular 

Session on ______________________ adopted this ordinance, and be it so ordained by the authority 

thereof, that the Code of Ordinances of the City of Dahlonega is hereby amended by adding a new chapter, 

i.e., Chapter 35 Mailbox Regulations, as shown in Exhibit A, which is attached hereto. This amendment is 

adopted with the express authority for Municode to renumber the ordinance sections based on their 

numbering system.  

Except as modified herein, The Code of the City of Dahlonega, Georgia, is hereby reaffirmed and 

restated. The codifier is hereby granted editorial license to include this amendment in future supplements 

of said Code by appropriate section, division, article or chapter. The City Attorney is directed and 

authorized to direct the codifier to make necessary minor, non-substantive corrections to the provisions of 

this Code, including but not limited to, the misspelling of words, typographical errors, duplicate pages, 

incorrect references to state or federal laws, statutes, this Code, or other codes or similar legal or technical 

sources, and other similar amendments, without necessity of passage of a corrective ordinance or other 

action of the Mayor and Council. The City Clerk shall, upon the written advice or recommendation of the 

city attorney and without the necessity of further council action, alter, amend or supplement any non-

codified ordinance, resolution or other record filed in his or her office as necessary to effect similar non-

substantive changes or revisions and ensure that such public records are correct, complete and accurate. 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby expressly repealed. 

So ordained and effective this ____ day of  _____________. 2023. 

 

        ____________________________ 

       JoAnne Taylor, Mayor 

 

       _____________________________ 

Attest: Mary Csukas, City Clerk 

 

- Page 10 -



 

 

 

Exhibit A 

 

CHAPTER 35: MAILBOX REGULATIONS. 

Sec 35-1. Mailbox requirements.  

No mailbox or newspaper delivery box (hereafter referred to as a “mailbox”) shall be constructed on any 

public road right-of-way if it interferes with the safety of the traveling public or the function, maintenance, 

or operation of any publicly owned roadway or utility. A mailbox installation that does not conform to the 

provisions of this regulation is an unauthorized encroachment. All mailbox installations must be in 

accordance with guidelines set forth by the United States Postal Service and the local, state or federal agency 

responsible for the right-of-way upon which it is placed at the time of placement.  However, should any 

regulation herein be more restrictive than those of the governing authority responsible for the right of way  

the requirements of these regulations shall govern the installation.  

Sec 35-2. Mailbox installation. 

A mailbox installation must be approved by the City Engineer or his designee. As with any ground-breaking 

activity, the installer shall follow state and federal “Call Before You Dig” requirements.  A mailbox 

installation that conforms to the following criteria shall be considered acceptable: 

(a) Location.  

i. The position of a mailbox must be 41″ to 45″ from the road surface to the bottom of 

the mailbox or point of mail entry. 

ii. On curbed streets the roadside face of the mailbox shall be set back from the face of 

curb distance between six and eight inches. On roadways without curbs or all-weather 

shoulders and which carry low traffic volumes operating at low speeds, the roadside 

face of a mailbox shall be offset between eight and twelve inches behind the edge of 

pavement. 

iii. New installations shall not take place within 8’ of existing utilities unless authorized 

by the City Engineer or his designee in writing. 

iv. A house or apartment number shall be visible on the mailbox. 

v. Where a mailbox is located at a driveway entrance, it shall be placed on the far side of 

the driveway in the direction of the delivery route. 

vi. Where a mailbox is located at an intersecting road it shall be located a minimum of 

100 feet beyond the center of the intersecting road in the direction of the delivery route.  

(b) Structure. 

i. Mailboxes shall be of light sheet metal or plastic construction sized to conform to the 

requirements of the U.S. Postal Service. Newspaper delivery boxes shall be of light 

sheet metal or plastic construction of minimum dimensions suitable for holding a 

newspaper. 

ii. No more than two mailboxes may be mounted on a support structure. Lightweight 

newspaper boxes may be mounted below the mailbox support. 

- Page 11 -



 

 

iii. A single 4”x 4” square wooden post or 2” diameter round steel or aluminum pipe with 

a strength no greater than a 2” diameter standard strength steel pipe and embedded no 

more than 24” into the ground shall be acceptable as a mailbox support. A metal post 

shall not be fitted with an anchor plate, but it may have an anti-twist device that extends 

no more than 10” below the ground surface. Mailbox supports shall not be encased in 

concrete or brick. 

iv. The post-to-box attachment details should be of sufficient strength to prevent the box 

from separating from the post top if the installation is struck by a vehicle. 

v. The minimum spacing between the centers of support posts shall be three-fourths the 

height of the posts above the ground line. 

Sec 35-3. Penalty for violations. 

Any violations of these regulations shall be punished under the provisions of Sections 1-7 of this code. 

- Page 12 -



 

 

 

DATE: 11/6/2023 

TITLE: Renewal of Probation Contract 

PRESENTED BY: Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Contract Renewal with Professional Probation Services, Inc.  

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

This provider has been a good performer for the City for several years now.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

No financial impact to the City.  The fees are paid by the defendants placed on probation. The fee 
schedule presented contains their first increase in five years but remains reasonable.   

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval is recommended.  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Motion to approve Renewal of Probation Contract. 

ATTACHMENTS: 

 

Renewal probation contract. 

 

 

 

- Page 13 -



- Page 14 -



- Page 15 -



- Page 16 -



- Page 17 -



- Page 18 -



- Page 19 -



- Page 20 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: October 31, 2023 

TITLE: 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services – Strategic Priority #3 - 
Communication 

PRESENTED BY: Allison Martin, Finance Director 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

This agreement continues tourism promotion services provided by the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County 
Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc. as a standalone entity. 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Historically, the city has contracted with the Chamber to provide tourism promotion services. This 
agreement for tourism development services is with the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc. in recognition of the separation of the two entities. The agreement has been 
reviewed by legal as to form and reviewed by the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and 
Visitors Bureau, Inc. and city staff for content. This is the latest draft of the contract.  We are 
expecting one more revision to address the concerns of the Tourism Board which will be shared and 
updated as soon as it is prepared. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

$297,063 over the year – months January through September are in the FY24 approved budget.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

Approval of the agreement as provided.   

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

I move to approve the 2024 Agreement for Tourism Development Services as written, or subject to 
the following changes:  (list them). 

ATTACHMENTS:  

2024 Draft Agreement for Tourism Development Services 

 

- Page 21 -



AGREEMENT FOR TOURISM DEVELOPMENT SERVICES 

 

This Agreement entered into as of _______________, 2023, by and between the City of 

Dahlonega, a Georgia Municipal Corporation, (the “City”), and the Dahlonega-Lumpkin County 

Convention and Visitors Bureau, Inc., a private sector nonprofit 501(c)(6) corporation under the 

laws of Georgia (the “CVB”) is as follows: 

WHEREAS, the City may expend funds subject to the following limitations: 

Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) of this subsection, a municipality…may 

levy a tax under this code section at a rate of 5 percent. A municipality…levying a tax 

pursuant to this paragraph shall expend (in each fiscal year during which the tax is collected 

under this paragraph) an amount equal to the amount by which the total taxes collected 

under this Code section exceed the taxes which would be collected at a rate of 3 percent 

for the purpose of (a) promoting tourism, conventions, and trade shows; … Amounts so 

expended shall be expended only through a contract or contracts with… a private sector 

nonprofit organization, or through a contract or contracts with some combination of such 

entities, expect that amounts expended for purposes (C) and (D) may be so expended in 

any otherwise lawful manner.  

O.C.G.A. 48-13-51(a)(3). 

 WHEREAS, the City may expend funds for promoting tourism; and 

 WHEREAS, such expenditures are permissible pursuant to a contract with a private sector 

nonprofit organization; and 

 WHEREAS, the CVB is a private sector nonprofit organization exempt from income tax 

under IRC 501(c)(6) which is willing and authorized to expend such funds for the purpose of 

promoting tourism in Dahlonega, Georgia as provided by law; and 

 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises herein, the parties agree as follows: 

1) Compensation and related details.   

i. During the term of this Agreement, the City agrees to provide in consideration for 

the services rendered certain restricted funds to be derived from the proceeds of the 

hotel-motel tax. The monthly sum provided shall be $24,755.25. The term proceeds 

as referenced in this paragraph shall be certain funds collected from the levy of the 

hotel-motel tax by the City less the City’s administrative fee of 3% of the funds 

collected, and the term restricted shall mean the funds shall be used exclusively for 

Tourism, Convention and Trade Show purposes as same are used in Title 48 

Chapter 13 Article 3 of the Georgia Code. 

ii. The CVB shall, in consideration of the tax funds referenced above, provide bi-

monthly financial reports to the City by the 30th day of each calendar month 

following a board meeting in a form mutually agreeable to both the CVB and the 

City. These reports will be used by the City in part to ascertain the CVB’s 

- Page 22 -



compliance with the terms of this Agreement and with O.C.G.A. Section 48-13-

51(9)(A). The City may in its sole discretion require during the term of this 

Agreement additional financial information from the CVB, including specific 

receipts, copies of checks, deposits, and other similar items. The CVB shall also 

deliver a copy of its annual Form 990 and annual financial audit with findings and 

management comments as well as the QuickBooks documentation required by the 

City’s designated auditors before the 180th day following the CVB fiscal year being 

audited.  

iii. By executing this Agreement, the CVB hereby affirms that it will use the funds 

received solely and exclusively in compliance with this Agreement and will further 

expend such funds in full compliance with the City ordinances and state laws. The 

CVB agrees to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the City from and against all 

claims that arise therefrom, including reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs of 

the City.  

iv. During the term of this contract and during each renewal term, if any, the CVB shall 

deliver its “cost allocation analysis” to the City of Dahlonega for the next 

succeeding contract year, including tourism budgets, advertising plans, and 

projected CVB budgets and such other information sufficient to the satisfaction of 

the City for it to adopt a budget plan specifying how the proceeds of such tax are to 

be expended. These efforts, and special CVB tourism promotions if any, shall be 

reviewed by the City as part of the City’s budget process and may be amended at 

the discretion of the City in consultation with the CVB. The City may then 

determine and adopt a Tourism Development Services Contract budget plan to be 

made a part of the City budget plan. Special projects of the CVB, if any, including 

major renovations or multiyear elements of the work program, may then be 

identified and budgeted as part of the annual budget process with the City. 

 

2) Expenditure Solely for Promoting Tourism. Tourism involves traveling to experience 

and learn about the places, attractions, and activities in the City of Dahlonega, Georgia. All 

hotel/motel tax sums received by the CVB from the City shall be expended for the purpose 

of promoting tourism within one year, and solely for the benefit of the City and only as 

follows: 

i. Promoting and stimulating tourism in Dahlonega to increase leisure visitor volume, 

overnight stays, visitor spending, and economic impact through the promotion and 

distribution of the City’s travel products to the travel trade; and 

ii. Promoting conventions, events, and trade shows, which includes planning, 

conducting, or participating in programs of information and publicity designed to 

attract or advertise tourism, conventions, events, or trade shows; and 

iii. The promotion of recreational, cultural, historic, and natural resources of 

Dahlonega to attract both leisure and group visitors to Dahlonega;  

Tourism promotion efforts must involve the following elements: 

- Page 23 -



i. The CVB will employ one full-time Executive Director to 

administer, initiate, and monitor all advertising/marketing 

campaigns for the City; and 

ii. This employee will be expected to attend tourism training and be an 

active member in tourism organizations, regional trails, and heritage 

programs, that will help promote the City of Dahlonega as a leisure 

and group travel destination, convention and meeting location, and 

a cultural heritage center of the Northeast region, and to appear both 

quarterly and on request before the Mayor and the City Council at a 

public meeting to discuss the CVB’s operation and finances. 

iii. A staffed Welcome Center that will provide an outlet for 

promotional materials and a place to help with information about 

activities in Dahlonega and provide restroom facilities for the 

public. Hours of operation of the Welcome Center shall be approved 

by the City. It is expected that the traditional hours as follows shall 

be maintained:  Hours of operation of the Welcome Center will be 

10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. Monday-Friday, 10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. 

Saturday, and 10:00 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. on Sunday. The Welcome 

Center and public restrooms may be open longer during peak 

season(s) and weekends. Any reduction of these hours will need to 

be approved by the City.  

 

3) Audit Verification. The CVB shall provide audit verification, as described below, to the 

City and demonstrate that the CVB uses the funds solely and exclusively for the purpose 

of promoting tourism in conformance with this Agreement. Reports are due 180 days 

following the end of the CVB’s fiscal year. Failure to file the required report may 

compromise the CVB’s status to receive grant funds. 

a. The CVB shall provide a cost allocation schedule for overhead costs associated with 

the use of CVB facilities for tourism activities. The audit verification shall include a 

Line-item Detailed Expense Report to the City identifying and describing each item 

funded with hotel/motel tax revenues including all direct and indirect costs. Detailed 

invoices shall be retained in compliance with the City’s retention schedule and will be 

available for review at the CVB offices. The City Clerk shall provide a copy of the 

retention policy upon request. 

b. At the end of the fiscal year, the CVB shall internally perform this audit verification 

and provide to the City a Detailed Annual Report that conveys each item funded with 

hotel/motel tax. Every third year, the CVB shall hire an outside agency to perform a 

full audit in lieu of its annual internal review and submit the findings in a report to the 

City.  

 

4) Audits of Lodging Properties. The City shall periodically perform unannounced audits of 

one, some, or all lodging properties in the City. These may be undertaken by an outside 

agency. Such lodging property audits shall be paid for from new tax funds collected 

- Page 24 -



incident to the audit process or from hotel-motel tax collections, prorated between the CVB 

and the City based on the revenue sharing agreement in place at the time of payment not to 

exceed a cost of $5,000.00 for the CVB’s share. 

 

5) Use of Jointly Owned Facility. The CVB occupies a building provided to it in part by the 

City. The CVB shall maintain insurance on the building’s contents and liability insurance 

satisfactory to the City. A copy shall be furnished to the City together with a certificate of 

insurance at the time of execution of this contract and upon each renewal. The CVB shall 

pay all monthly routine operational bills including but not limited to electricity, internet, 

telephone and water. The CVB shall also provide paper supplies, hand soap and related 

items for proper operation of restrooms. The building may be inspected by the City at any 

time. 

i. In lieu of rent, the CVB shall perform all needed upkeep and maintenance of the 

interior of the building from Tourism and non-tourism monies based upon a 

functional analysis of the expense. Exterior maintenance and major repairs will be 

paid in equal thirds by the CVB, the City, and Lumpkin County. A contingency 

fund of no less than $6,000 and no more than $12,000 will be maintained by the 

CVB for this purpose. The CVB will obtain approval from the City and Lumpkin 

County prior to making any modifications to the building. Should a maintenance 

bill not be paid on time, or cited maintenance not be performed as suggested by the 

City’s inspection within the time specified, the said bill will be paid by the City 

after consultation with the CVB. The amount of the bill or maintenance cost will 

be subtracted from the next available City hotel/motel revenue payment to the CVB. 

The value of the rent shall be reflected in the CVB’s annual audit and Form 990. 

 

6) Notices. All notices, requests, demands, or other communications required or permitted to 

be given hereunder shall be in writing and shall be addressed and delivered to each party 

at the addresses set forth below. Any such notice, request, demand, or other communication 

shall be considered given or delivered on the date of receipt. The rejection or other refusal 

to accept or inability to deliver because of a changed address of which proper notice was 

not given shall be deemed to be receipt of the notice, request, demand, or other 

communication. By giving prior written notice thereof, any party may from time to time 

and at any time change its address for notices hereunder. Legal counsel for the respective 

parties may send to the other party any notices, requests, demands, or other 

communications required or permitted to be given hereunder by such party. 

i. City of Dahlonega.  

Attn: Allison Martin 

465 Riley Road 

Dahlonega, Georgia 30533 

ii. Dahlonega-Lumpkin County Convention and Visitor’s Bureau 

Attn:  Sam McDuffie 

13 S Park Street 

Dahlonega, GA 30533 

- Page 25 -



 

7) Term, Renewal and Termination. The term of this contract shall commence on January 

1, 2024 and end on December 31, 2024. This agreement shall automatically renew on the 

first day of the calendar year that immediately follows the current Agreement term. Either 

party may terminate the Agreement at the end of its annual term and bar automatic renewal 

by written notice to the opposing party’s notice address listed in paragraph 6, provided 

such written notice is postmarked no later than sixty (60) days prior to the end of the current 

annual term.  

 

8) Assignment. The parties hereto may not assign, sublet, or transfer their interest in and 

responsibilities under this agreement without the prior written approval of all parties hereto.  

 

9) Georgia Law. It is the intention of the parties that the laws of Georgia shall govern the 

validity of this agreement, the construction of its terms, and the interpretation of the rights 

or duties of the parties.  

 

10) Severability. In the event any provision or portion of this agreement is held by any court 

of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable, such holdings shall not affect the 

remained hereof and the remaining provisions shall continue in full force and effect to the 

same extent as would have been the case had such invalid or unenforceable provision or 

portion had never been a part hereof. 

 

11) Reasonable Cooperation. On and after the date of this agreement, both parties shall, at 

the request of the other, make, execute, and deliver or obtain and deliver all instruments 

and documents and shall do or cause to be done all such other things which either party 

may reasonably require to effectuate the provisions and intentions of this agreement.  

 

12) Time. Time is and shall be of the essence under this agreement. 

 

13) Binding Authority. The parties signing this agreement hereby state that they have the 

authority to bind the entity on whose behalf they are signing.  

 

14) Integration. This agreement supersedes all prior discussions and agreements between the 

parties and contains the sole and entire understanding between the parties with respect to 

transactions contemplated by this agreement. This agreement shall not be modified or 

amended except by a written instrument executed by or on behalf of the parties in the same 

manner in which this agreement is executed. No course of action or waiver of rights 

hereunder shall constitute a waiver of such right or action.  

 

15) Compliance with Law, Responsibility for Transmission of Meeting Records. By 

executing this Agreement, the CVB acknowledges it may be a contracted organization, 

receiving 33% or more of its total operating budget from hotel/motel tax, and if so, is 

subject to the Open Meetings Act (O.C.G.A. 50-15-1 et. Seq) and Open Records Act 

- Page 26 -



(O.C.G.A. 50-18/70 et. Seq.). The CVB will provide the City a copy of Committee/Board 

meeting notices, agendas and supporting documents, and minutes from each and every 

meeting reflecting a report of the Convention and Visitor’s Bureau activities and official 

actions taken by the governing body.  

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have signed this Agreement under their hand and 

seal on the date set forth above.  

CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA 

Acting by and through its Duly Elected 

Mayor and City Council 

 

By: ______________________________ 

       JoAnne Taylor 

 

Title: Mayor________________________ 

 

Date: _____________________________ 

 

Attest: ____________________________ 

             City Clerk 
 

 

DAHLONEGA-LUMPKIN COUNTY 

CONVENTION AND VISITORS 

BUREAU INC. 

 

By: ______________________________ 

       Sam McDuffie 

 

Title: Executive Director______________ 

           

Date: _____________________________ 

 

- Page 27 -



 

 

CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

Council Meeting Minutes 

October 02, 2023, 6:00 PM 

Gary McCullough Chambers, Dahlonega City Hall 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, those requiring accommodation for Council 
meetings should notify the City Clerk’s Office at least 24 hours prior to the meeting at 706-864-6133. 

Vision – Dahlonega will be the most welcoming, thriving, and inspiring community in North Georgia 

Mission Statement - Dahlonega, a City of Excellence, will provide quality services through ethical 
leadership and fiscal stability in full partnership with the people who choose to live, work, and visit. 
Through this commitment, we respect and uphold our rural Appalachian setting to honor our thriving 
community of historical significance, academic excellence, and military renown. 

CALL TO ORDER AND WELCOME 

Mayor Taylor called to order the City Council Meeting of October 2, 2023, at 6:00 p.m.  

Mayor Taylor welcomed everyone to the meeting and informed the audience that topics 
discussed at the recent Work Session would be up for approval tonight.  

 

PRESENT 
Mayor JoAnne Taylor 
Councilmember Ron Larson 
Councilmember Roman Gaddis 
Councilmember Johnny Ariemma 
Councilmember Ryan Reagin 
Councilmember Ross Shirley 
Councilmember Lance Bagley 
 

PRAYER / PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE AMERICAN FLAG 

Mayor Talyor led the prayer, and Councilmember Larson led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

Mayor Taylor informed the audience that the Council approved the updated vision statement and 
mission statement that was recently developed as a result of the collaboration with the Council 
and Staff during a retreat in Canton a few months ago. She thanked the City staff for making those 
changes and seeking approval from the Council.  

Mayor Taylor called for a motion to approve the agenda and move two items to the council 
meeting in the November meeting. Cemetery Committee Recognition is well deserved, but none 
could be there tonight, so we will wait until they arrive. That second item is the Cemetery 
Committee Annual Report. With those two changes, Mayor Taylor entertains a motion to approve 
the Agenda.  

Councilmember Gaddis made a motion to approve the agenda with these changes, Seconded 
by Councilmember Bagley. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 

- Page 28 -



 
PUBLIC COMMENT – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

Mayor Taylor opened the floor to public comments.  

Mr. Gribben expressed his thoughts on the City of Dahlonega. 

Mayor Taylor thanked everyone for the public comment.  

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

a. Council Meeting Minutes - September 5, 2023, Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk  

b. City Council Work Session Minutes - September 18, 2023, Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant 
City Clerk  

Mayor Taylor called for a motion to approve the minutes as presented. 

Councilmember Larson recommended approval of the September 5th Council Meeting 
minutes and the Work Session Minutes on September 18th as presented, Seconded by 
Councilmember Reagin. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

APPOINTMENT, PROCLAMATION & RECOGNITION:  

1. Cemetery Committee Recognition, Mayor JoAnne Taylor 

Mayor Taylor announced they will recognize the Cemetery Committee at the November 
meeting as they are working with students tonight in the cemetery,   

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS: None  

 

CITY REPORTS: 

2. Financial Report - August 2023, Allison Martin, City Manager  

Mayor Taylor announced that City Manager Martin is absent and will not be in the office 
for the rest of the week. She asks the council if they have any questions about the August 
2023 Financial Report.  

Mayor Taylor calls for a motion to accept the August 2023 financial report. 

Councilmember Reagin made a motion to accept the financial report for August 2023, 
Seconded by Councilmember Gaddis. 
Mayor Taylor commented that the City is in very good and stable financial shape. We 
have the tax revenues from the measures we typically use for measuring outside of 
tourism from pre-pandemic numbers. We are on a good trajectory from that standpoint. 
All the funds are balanced and well within budget with everything. She goes on to thank 
Assistant Finance Director Stafford and City Manager Martin.  
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 

3. Cemetery Committee Annual Report, Chris Worick, Chairman, 

     This item is moved to the November Council Meeting 

 

ORDINANCES AND RESOLUTIONS: None 

- Page 29 -



 

CONTRACTS & AGREEMENTS: 

4. 2024 Employee Benefits Program, Allison Martin, City Manager 

Mayor Taylor introduces the Employee Benefits program by saying that it is that time of 
year when offering our employees enrollment in the benefits program is timely. She 
states that the council has seen all this at the Work Session. The final version is included 
here in the packet for tonight. 

Mayor Taylor entertained a motion to approve the 2024 Employee Benefits Program.  

Councilmember Shirley made a motion to approve the insurance renewal package 
offered by GMA and freeze employee contributions for FY2024, Seconded by 
Councilmember Larson. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

5. Park Street Utility Project Award, Allison Martin, City Manager & Mark Buchanan, 
Director of Engineering  

Mayor Taylor reminded everyone that the South Park Street portion is approval of the 
initial phase of that project and how we will fund it. She tells the council that if they had 
looked at the bid memo, there was an extensive choice of analysis of the particular forms 
we could contract to complete this complicated job.  

Mayor Taylor called for a motion to approve the Park Street Utility Project Award.  

Councilmember Gaddis made a motion to approve the award of Division I of the Park 
Street Utility Improvements Project to Strickland & Sons Pipeline in an amount not to 
exceed $4,950,000, Seconded by Councilmember Larson. 

Councilmember Gaddis stated that this has been a topic of discussion during his tenure 
at the Council. Park Street is a critical piece of our infrastructure, and this project will 
upgrade this area in need.  

Councilmember Ariemma stated Dahlonega is excellent, but we all inherited the problems, 
such as the infrastructure of these streets. He agrees that it needs to be replaced. He 
asked City Engineer Buchanan, who approved all the equipment prices.  

Mayor Taylor stated that one of the more important aspects of this project is that the 
infrastructure under that street is over one hundred years old, which is hazardous. Most 
importantly, it will complete a loop for water distribution, allowing better fire pressure at 
every hydrant. This makes it much more efficient.  

Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

6. Intergovernmental Service Agreement – Downtown Development Authority, Allison 
Martin, Finance Director 

Mayor Taylor says this is a standard agreement we have had with the DDA, which helps 
them operate and keeps funding their department for our downtown area to maintain its 
beauty.  

Mayor Taylor requests a motion to approve the Intergovernmental Service Agreement 
for the Downtown Development Authority.  

Councilmember Bagley made a motion to approve the Intergovernmental Service 

- Page 30 -



Agreement with the Downtown Development Authority for FY2024 and fund its budget 
from general fund revenue ($100,000) and hotel/motel tax collections ($84,875), 
Seconded by Councilmember Shirley. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

7. IGA – Lumpkin County & City of Dahlonega Fueling Station Amendment, Allison Martin, 
City Manager 

Mayor Taylor states that this IGA was discussed at our Work Session. This is an 
Intergovernmental Agreement regarding the fueling station with Lumpkin County and the 
City of Dahlonega. It is just an amendment to the agreement that we already have in place 
for a particular type of fuel called DEF, which is very expensive, and we will be sharing 
the burden of cost with the county.  

Mayor Taylor entertains a motion to approve the IGA Lumpkin County & City of 
Dahlonega Fueling Station Amendment.  

Councilmember Reagin made a motion to approve the amendment of the IGA between 
Lumpkin County and the City of Dahlonega for the use of the Fueling Station, Seconded 
by Councilmember Gaddis. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

8. UCBI Banking Service Contract Renewal, Kimberly Stafford, Finance Director 

Mayor Taylor stated City Manager Martin discussed this at the Work Session, and the 
staff has done a lot of work looking for the best offer to allow the City to keep a local 
bank.  

Mayor Taylor entertained a motion to approve the UCBI Banking Service Contract 
Renewal. 

Councilmember Larson made a motion to approve the contract renewal for banking 
services with UCBI, Seconded by Councilmember Bagley. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

OTHER ITEMS: 

9. Dahlonega Food and Gas INC dba/Gulf Food Mart - Retail Alcoholic Beverage License, 
Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

The City Attorney Parks states this was discussed briefly at the Work Session. It is an 
ownership change, and everything else remains the same. Everything is in order, and he 
recommends approval.  

Mayor Taylor calls for a motion to approve the Dahlonega Food and Gas INC dba/Gulf 
Food Mart - Retail Alcoholic Beverage License.  

Councilmember Gaddis made a motion to approve a Class B Retail Beer Package 
License and a Class C Retail Wine Package License for a store up to 10,000 square feet 
for Dahlonega Food and Gas INC dba/Gulf Food Mart, Seconded by Councilmember 
Reagin. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

- Page 31 -



COMMENTS – PLEASE LIMIT TO THREE MINUTES 

Ms. Csukas reminded everyone that the Alcohol Consumption on the Premises Licenses will be 
renewed in October. The final day will be October 31st. There is a memo on our website.  

City Attorney Parks had no comments.  

City Council -   
Councilmember Larson thanked the Mayor for the efficiency of this meeting.  

Councilmember Gaddis had no comments. 

Councilmember Ariemma had no comments. 

Councilmember Reagin made no comment.  

Councilmember Shirley reminded everyone of the last First Friday Concert of the season.  

Councilmember Bagley said he cannot believe it is already October, and it is a very exciting 
time to be in Dahlonega. Job well done so far to the Lumpkin County High School Football 
Team. The excitement around the program is amazing. He stated that he had just toured the 
new elementary school and how amazing it was. He is also very excited about the Gold Rush.  

Mayor Comments -  

Mayor Taylor had no further comments.  

ADJOURNMENT 

Mayor Taylor called for a motion to adjourn the meeting at 6:21 P.M.  

Motion made by Councilmember Larson, Seconded by Councilmember Reagin. 
Voting Yea: Councilmember Larson, Councilmember Gaddis, Councilmember Ariemma, 
Councilmember Reagin, Councilmember Shirley, Councilmember Bagley 
 

- Page 32 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: 11/1/2023 

TITLE: City Council Work Session Minutes – October 16th, 2023 – Strategic Priorities #3 
- Communication  

PRESENTED BY: Sarah Hunsinger, Assistant City Clerk 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

 

RECOMMENDATION:  

 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

 

- Page 33 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: 10/17/2023 

TITLE: Appointment of Assistant City Clerk – Sarah Hunsinger – Strategic Priority #3 
Communication  

PRESENTED BY: Mary Csukas, City Clerk 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

Sarah is the current Assistant City Clerk with the City of Dahlonega and would be an ideal person to 
appoint this position. Sarah has worked in government under the Lumpkin County Parks and 
Recreation Department for four years. These formative years have given her a sound foundation to 
understand some of the requirements for a government position. She is a dedicated individual who 
has shown the ability to work with diverse individuals. She has completed the 18-hour training 
course with the Carl Vinson Institute for the position of City Clerk. This training allowed her to meet a 
large group of City Clerks Assistant and City Clerks and receive the initial training to be in the 
Assistant City Clerk position.  

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

This Assistant City Clerk position is a budgeted position.  

RECOMMENDATION:  

I recommend the appointment of Sarah Hunsinger to the City of Dahlonega Assistant City Clerk 
position. 

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Motion to appoint Sarah Hunsinger as Assistant City Clerk for the City of Dahlonega 

ATTACHMENTS:  

 

 

- Page 34 -



Proclamation 

Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc 

November 4, 2023 

 

WHEREAS:  Since the founding of Georgia in 1733, over 1,000,000 of its finest citizens have 
served in the military, to include active duty, reserves, and national guard; AND 
 

WHEREAS:  The patriotic men and women of Dahlonega have always served to ensure that 
Dahlonega, Georgia, and America are defended and protected; AND 
 

WHEREAS:  Georgia currently has 678,304 living veterans of former service to America’s 
military branches; AND 
 

WHEREAS:  In 2013, the Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc. was established to 
honor and induct annually, fifteen Georgians into the nation’s premiere military 
veterans’ hall of fame; AND 
 

WHEREAS Through 2023, 177 Georgians have been inducted, including three from 
Dahlonega; AND 
 

WHEREAS 
 
 
 

Since establishing an annual “ROTC Scholarship Program,” in 2020, the Georgia 
Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc. has awarded thirty-nine $4000 scholarships 
to Georgia's top thirty-nine high school Senor JROTC Cadets, who are enrolled in 
the ROTC Program at a Georgia four-year university; AND 
 

WHEREAS:  We commend the Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame and the 177 inductees 
and encourage all citizens to educate themselves concerning this effort and get 
involved in nominating worthy veterans: THEREFORE 
 
 

I, JoAnne Taylor, Mayor, and the City Council of Dahlonega, to further recognize and honor this 

endeavor and inductees, so hereby proclaim Saturday, November 4, 2023, as the Georgia 

Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc. Day. 

 

Dated this _____________________ day of ____________________________, 2023 

 

Mayor ________________________   Attest: ___________________________  

- Page 35 -



- Page 36 -



 

1 of 3 

 

 

                 

                           

GENERAL FUND       

 

 

 The annual property tax bills were levied and mailed by the Tax Commissioner on October 1st with a 

December 1st due date. To date, 100% of the 2022 taxes budgeted have been collected. 

 Sales tax collections remain strong, reflecting collections 7.54% greater than FY22.  The change in the State 

law related to internet sales taxation has continued to positively impact our collections. 

 A large amount was collected in September 2020 from an audit finding for a large retailer. 

 

$0 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $5,000,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 General Fund Operating Revenue 
YTD September 30, 2023

$4,000,000 $5,000,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 General Fund Operating Expenditures 
YTD September 30, 2023

$50,000

$70,000

$90,000

$110,000

$130,000

$150,000

$170,000

$190,000

$210,000

OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP*

Local Option Sales Tax Collections

FY19 FY20 FY21 FY22 FY23

* An audit of a large retailer om FY2020  yielded a large collection amount 

 
CITY OF DAHLONEGA 

 

MONTHLY FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 

For the Twelve Months Ended September 30, 2023 **Presented as 

unaudited** 

- Page 37 -



2 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 The annual revenue for Insurance Premium Tax is $545,246.95 this fiscal year, which is 24% greater than 

last fiscal year. This amount is based on a population formula. 

 Alcoholic Beverage Tax and License revenue collected year-to-date is greater than the prior year. 

 Permit revenue collected year-to-date is greater than prior year collections. 

 Department expenditures are in line with budget expectations.  

 

DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 Operational results are on track with the budget. As the budget was programmed to use fund balance, there 

is no concern with the lag in revenues for this fund. 

 

HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND 

 Tax revenue collections experienced a sharp decline in April 2020 with the onset of the Pandemic. Beginning 

in September 2020, collections have remained higher than in previous years.  FY23 now trends 1.77% 

greater than FY22 and is still 69.82% higher than pre-pandemic collections. There are two factors for the 

increase above pre-pandemic levels.  One is the change to the law regarding collection by third-party online 

booking agencies, the other is the new hotel. 

 

 

 

 

 

$0

$20,000

$40,000

$60,000

$80,000

$100,000

OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEP

Hotel Motel Tax Collections

Hotel Motel Tax FY19 Hotel Motel Tax FY20 Hotel Motel Tax FY21

Hotel Motel Tax FY22 Hotel Motel Tax FY23

- Page 38 -



3 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

WATER AND SEWER FUND 

 Water and sewer sales are trending along with budget projections. Revenue from water sales and sewer 

charges is 6.18% more than last year and 6.28% greater than pre-pandemic numbers. 

 All department expenses are in line with the budget.  

 

 

SOLID WASTE FUND 

 Refuse Collection Charges are Revenues are 1.89% greater than the prior year.  

 Expenses meet budget expectations. 

 

 

 

$650,000 $1,650,000 $2,650,000 $3,650,000 $4,650,000 $5,650,000 $6,650,000

Budget

FY2023 Water & Sewer Fund Revenue 
YTD September 30, 2023

$0 $1,000,000 $2,000,000 $3,000,000 $4,000,000 $5,000,000 $6,000,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 Water & Sewer Fund Operating Expenses
YTD September 30, 2023

$0 $200,000 $400,000 $600,000 $800,000 $1,000,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 Solid Waste Operating Revenue
YTD September 30, 2023

$750,000 $800,000 $850,000 $900,000 $950,000 $1,000,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 Solid Waste Operating Expenditures
YTD September 30, 2023

- Page 39 -



4 of 4 

 

 

 

 

 

STORMWATER ENTERPRISE FUND 

 Transfers In and Indirect Charges reflect a twelve-month allocation.   

 Stormwater utility charges were first billed in January 2021 and are meeting budget expectations. 

 Expenses are related to the startup of the new utility, projects, and allocated staff pay and benefits. 

 

 

(Prepared for Council and Management by the Finance Office 10/312023) 

$0 $200,000 $400,000 $600,000 $800,000 $1,000,000 $1,200,000 $1,400,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 Storm Water Operating Revenues
YTD September 30, 2023

$0 $200,000 $400,000 $600,000 $800,000 $1,000,000 $1,200,000 $1,400,000

Budget

Actual

FY2023 Storm Water Operating Expenditures
YTD September 30, 2023

- Page 40 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 1/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 100 - GENERAL FUND
101.21 1,806,328.77 1,784,753.00   GENERAL PROPERTY TAXES
125.93 1,393,406.11 1,106,535.00   GENERAL SALES AND USE TAXES
102.58 231,424.47 225,600.00   SELECTIVE SALES AND USES TAXES
107.31 149,052.56 138,900.00   ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES LICENSES
121.38 706,181.79 581,801.00   BUSINESS TAXES
124.06 1,984.97 1,600.00   PENALTIES AND INTEREST
213.69 155,995.04 73,000.00   PERMITS AND FEES
181.19 39,219.66 21,646.00   INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE
101.21 738,323.02 729,483.00   CHARGES FOR SERVICES

76.22 184,139.22 241,600.00   FINES AND FORFEITURES
415.91 111,435.13 26,793.00   INVESTMENT INCOME

53.79 11,833.99 22,000.00   MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE
42.44 23,340.00 55,000.00   OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES

105.74 16,389.21 15,500.00   OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES
100.10 102,950.04 102,850.00   TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER FUNDS

110.63 5,672,003.98 5,127,061.00   TOTAL REVENUES

117.80 297,493.63 252,533.00   LEGISLATIVE
80.43 213,333.27 263,848.00   EXECUTIVE

1.08 242.25 22,335.00   ELECTIONS
97.02 1,028,372.15 1,059,920.00   GENERAL ADMINISTRATION
84.06 252,003.71 299,805.00   MUNICIPAL COURT
97.72 549,241.02 561,071.00   CITY MARSHAL
84.57 167,557.35 198,130.00   PUBLIC WORKS ADMINISTRATION
90.98 1,130,963.92 1,237,816.00   STREETS
99.35 113,353.63 114,099.00   MAINTENANCE AND SHOP
70.56 48,159.13 64,173.00   CEMETERY

111.95 52,841.15 44,700.00   PARKS
67.36 301,363.12 447,372.00   COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT

0.00 0.00 50,000.00   NON-DEPARTMENTAL
100.00 511,259.04 511,259.00   TRANSFERS OUT TO OTHER FUNDS

90.76 4,666,183.37 5,127,061.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

7,054.71 1,005,820.61 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

90.76 4,666,183.37 5,127,061.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
110.63 5,672,003.98 5,127,061.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 100 - GENERAL FUND:

- Page 41 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 2/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 230 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY
50.02 550.23 1,100.00   CHARGES FOR SERVICES

2,536.94 10,147.76 400.00   INVESTMENT INCOME
3,000.00 3,000.00 100.00   CONTRIBUTIONS AND DONATIONS
3,468.95 6,937.90 200.00   MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

100.00 232,449.96 232,450.00   TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER FUNDS
0.00 0.00 71,969.00   APPROPRIATED FUND BALANCE

82.65 253,085.85 306,219.00   TOTAL REVENUES

104.01 176,301.90 145,092.00   DDA ADMINISTRATION
71.81 74,165.20 103,284.00   TOURISM

147.04 85,049.48 57,843.00   DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT

101.48 335,516.58 306,219.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

337.68 (82,430.73)0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

101.48 335,516.58 306,219.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
82.65 253,085.85 306,219.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 230 - DOWNTOWN DEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY:

- Page 42 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 3/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 275 - HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND
95.79 651,384.87 680,000.00   HOTEL/MOTEL TAXES

100.00 584.66 0.00   PENALTIES AND INTEREST
4,359.59 4,359.59 100.00   INVESTMENT INCOME

96.50 656,329.12 680,100.00   TOTAL REVENUES

89.92 259,484.36 288,575.00   PURCHASES/CONTRACTED SERVICES
100.00 391,524.96 391,525.00   TRANSFERS OUT TO OTHER FUNDS

95.72 651,009.32 680,100.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

100.00 5,319.80 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

95.72 651,009.32 680,100.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
96.50 656,329.12 680,100.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 275 - HOTEL/MOTEL TAX FUND:

- Page 43 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 4/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 505 - WATER AND SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND
100.00 10,434.52 0.00   INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUE
100.00 10,000.00 0.00   FINES AND FORFEITURES

3,900.68 257,444.77 6,600.00   INVESTMENT INCOME
206.90 6,206.94 3,000.00   MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE
100.00 29,166.00 0.00   OTHER FINANCIAL SOURCES
106.68 3,137,922.82 2,941,401.00   WATER CHARGES
290.36 508,131.50 175,000.00   TAP FEES - WATER
111.76 2,422,563.26 2,167,558.00   SEWER CHARGES
314.42 550,241.50 175,000.00   TAP FEES - SEWER
124.16 87,903.02 70,800.00   OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES

37.00 500,000.04 1,351,502.00   TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER FUNDS

109.13 7,520,014.37 6,890,861.00   TOTAL REVENUES

72.01 192,619.12 262,198.00   SEWER LIFT STATIONS
98.18 789,332.46 784,715.00   SEWER TREATMENT PLANT
89.20 1,067,992.44 1,149,766.00   DISTRIBUTION AND COLLECTION
50.17 181,769.95 362,296.00   WATER SUPPLY
74.61 1,760,821.02 2,320,616.00   WATER TREATMENT PLANT
77.13 1,548,067.19 1,825,530.00   CAPITAL OUTLAYS

100.00 125,739.96 125,740.00   INTERFUND CHARGES
0.16 94.01 60,000.00   OTHER COSTS

78.88 5,666,436.15 6,890,861.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

632.89 1,853,578.22 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

78.88 5,666,436.15 6,890,861.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
109.13 7,520,014.37 6,890,861.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 505 - WATER AND SEWER ENTERPRISE FUND:

- Page 44 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 5/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 540 - SOLID WASTE ENTERPRISE FUND
141.67 425.00 300.00   CHARGES FOR SERVICES

2,190.19 16,426.45 750.00   INVESTMENT INCOME
100.00 630.00 0.00   MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE

91.90 7,352.04 8,000.00   OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES
106.58 1,069,715.92 1,003,716.00   REFUSE COLLECTION CHARGES

0.00 0.00 1,935.00   APPROPRIATED NET ASSETS

107.87 1,094,549.41 1,014,701.00   TOTAL REVENUES

87.22 436,826.50 500,845.00   PERSONAL SERVICES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
121.52 270,635.53 222,700.00   PURCHASES/CONTRACTED SERVICES

45.33 57,644.25 120,700.00   SUPPLIES
31.71 10,655.00 33,600.00   CAPITAL OUTLAYS

100.00 62,870.04 62,870.00   INTERFUND CHARGES
0.06 24.54 40,000.00   OTHER COSTS
2.61 886.84 33,986.00   DEBT SERVICE

82.21 839,542.70 1,014,701.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

3,948.14 255,006.71 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

82.21 839,542.70 1,014,701.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
107.87 1,094,549.41 1,014,701.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 540 - SOLID WASTE ENTERPRISE FUND:

- Page 45 -



REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT FOR CITY OF DAHLONEGA 6/6Page: 10/31/2023 03:44 PM
User: AMARTIN
DB: Dahlonega

PERIOD ENDING 09/30/2023

% BDGT
USED

YTD BALANCE
09/30/2023

NORMAL (ABNORMAL)

2022-23
ORIGINAL

BUDGETDESCRIPTIONGL NUMBER

Fund 560 - STORMWATER ENTERPRISE FUND
2,044.73 10,223.63 500.00   INVESTMENT INCOME

143.26 1,432.62 1,000.00   OTHER CHARGES FOR SERVICES
54.47 611,259.00 1,122,279.00   TRANSFERS IN FROM OTHER FUNDS
94.38 353,924.96 375,000.00   STORMWATER UTILITY CHARGES

65.18 976,840.21 1,498,779.00   TOTAL REVENUES

88.62 71,323.49 80,481.00   PERSONAL SERVICES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
4.67 3,815.47 81,710.00   PURCHASES/CONTRACTED SERVICES
0.17 52.50 31,231.00   SUPPLIES

20.35 208,125.78 811,494.00   CAPITAL OUTLAYS
100.00 493,863.00 493,863.00   INTERFUND CHARGES

45.45 777,180.24 1,498,779.00   TOTAL EXPENDITURES

94.55 199,659.97 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

45.45 777,180.24 1,498,779.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES
65.18 976,840.21 1,498,779.00 TOTAL REVENUES

Fund 560 - STORMWATER ENTERPRISE FUND:

589.42 3,236,954.58 0.00 NET OF REVENUES & EXPENDITURES

80.51 12,935,868.36 15,517,721.00 TOTAL EXPENDITURES - ALL FUNDS
104.22 16,172,822.94 15,517,721.00 TOTAL REVENUES - ALL FUNDS

- Page 46 -



 

 

 

DATE: 11/6/2023 

TITLE: Zoning Map Amendment - (Parcel No. D11-033) Ordinance 2023-09 

PRESENTED BY: Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

The applicant is requesting to rezone a 0.261+ acre (11,369 square feet) property on Meaders Street 
(Tax Parcel D11 033) from R-1: Single Family Residential District, to R-3: Multiple Family Residential 
District for the purpose of utilizing the existing single-family residence as a personal vacation home 
and short-term rental property, with conditions. Within the R-1 zoning district, short-term rentals, as 
defined in Article VIII (Short Term Rentals) are not permitted use, resulting in the rezoning request.  

The staff report calls for the council to make an initial determination of the compatibility of 
short-term rentals with the existing development pattern and with the adjacent neighborhood. 
Subject to that determination being made the pro forma ordinance attached suggests several 
conditions to be imposed.  
 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Planning Commission recommended denial. 

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

N/A 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Neutral.  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Motion to deny if not deemed compatible and to approve if deemed compatible.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

Staff report is attached. Ordinance 2023-09 is attached. 

 

- Page 47 -



 

CITY OF DAHLONEGA 
ORDINANCE 2023-09  

 
 
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA, 
GEORGIA, BY CHANGING THE ZONING ON A PARCEL OF LAND COLLECTIVELY 
CONSISTING OF .261 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, LYING WITHIN TAX PARCEL D11-
033. SAID PARCEL OF LAND IS LOCATED IN LAND LOT 951 OF THE 12th DISTRICT, 
1ST SECTION, LUMPKIN COUNTY, GEORGIA RECORDS AS MORE 
PARTICULARLY DESCRIBED ON THAT CERTAIN PLAT OF SURVEY PREPARED 
BY JOHN S. LIINGLE, GEORGIA REGISTERED LAND SURVEYOR. 
 
BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE CITY OF 
DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA, AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION I. 
 
The Council finds that the use of the subject property for short-term rental purposes is consistent 
with the existing development pattern and compatible with the adjacent neighborhood.  
 
Therefore, from and after the passage of this Ordinance the lands described in the Legal 
Description incorporated into this Ordinance shall be zoned and so designated on the Zoning Map 
of the City of Dahlonega in classification R-3 (Multiple Family Residential) as may be modified 
by the conditions set forth herein which are as follows: 
 

(1) The property shall be compliant with the requirements of Article VIII – Short Term Rentals 
prior to the issuance of a short-term rental license. 

(2) The approval of the property as a short-term rental shall be approved for the current 
property owners only. At the time the applicants no longer are the property owners, the 
short-term rental of the property shall cease, and the new property owners shall be required 
to apply for continuation of the short-term rental use. 

(3) The use of the property as a short-term rental shall be revoked under the provisions found 
in Sec. 805 regulation and violation procedures until Article VIII. 

(4) Only uses of property available in the R-1 classification shall be available to this property 
except for the short-term rental use. 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION  
 
ALL THAT TRACT OR PARCEL OF LAND LYING AND BEING IN LAND LOT 951 OF THE 
12TH DISTRICT, 1ST SECTION OF LUMPKIN COUNTY, GEORGIA, BEING IN THE CITY 
OF DAHLONEGA, CONSISTING OF 0.261 ACRES, MORE OR LESS, TOGETHER WITH 
ALL IMPROVEMENTS LOCATED THEREON, AND BEING MORE PARTICTUARLY 
DESCRIBED AND DELINEATED ACCORDING TO A PLAT OF SURVERY DATED JUNE 
12, 2014, PREPARED BY JOHN S. LINGLE, GEORGIA REGISTERED LAND SURVEOR, 

- Page 48 -



 

WHICH IS RECORDED IN PLAT CABINET ONE, SLIDE 200, PLAT 188A, LUMPKIN 
COUNTY RECORDS, AND IS HEREBY INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE FOR A MORE 
DETAILED DESCRIPTION. 
 
SECTION II. 
 
All Ordinances and parts of Ordinances in conflict herewith are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION III. 
 
If any portion of this Ordinance shall be held to be invalid or unconstitutional, such invalidity or 
unconstitutionality shall not affect or impair the remaining portions unless it clearly appears that 
such other parts are wholly and necessarily dependent upon the part held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional. 
 
SECTION IV. 
 
The effective date of this Ordinance shall be upon approval by the City Council of Dahlonega, 
Georgia. 
 
APPROVED THIS ________ DAY OF __________________, 2023 BY THE MAYOR AND 
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF DAHLONEGA, GEORGIA. 
 
 
___________________________________ 
JoAnne Taylor, Mayor 
 
Attest: 
 
 
___________________________________ 
Mary Csukas, City Clerk 
 

- Page 49 -



- Page 50 -



- Page 51 -



- Page 52 -



- Page 53 -



- Page 54 -



- Page 55 -



- Page 56 -



- Page 57 -



- Page 58 -



- Page 59 -



- Page 60 -



 

City Council Agenda Memo 

 

DATE: November 1, 2023 

TITLE: 2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewals – Strategic Priority #3 
Communications 

PRESENTED BY: Mary Csukas, City Clerk & Doug Parks, City Attorney 

  

AGENDA ITEM DESCRIPTION:  

1. Consumption on Premise = Class D, Liquor by the drink, Class E, Beer by the drink & Class 
F, Wine by the drink. 
 We have two licenses requiring approval on the renewal list. Three establishments still 

need to submit renewal information. Zen Ramen and Sushi Burrito, LLC is changing 
ownership. 

2. Retail Package License = Class B, Beer, and Class C, Wine.  
 We have four licenses requiring approval on the renewal list. These approvals will finalize 

compliance for the renewal of establishments with retail package store licenses in the 
City of Dahlonega.  

3. Manufacturer = Class H, Wholesale Beer, Class I, Wholesale Wine & Class K, Brewer.  
 No applications are pending for the manufacturers.  

4. Farm Winery Tasting Room = Wine Tasting Rooms in Dahlonega.  
 No applications are pending for the farm winery tasting rooms.  

 

HISTORY/PAST ACTION:  

Our annual renewal of alcoholic beverage licenses by class is underway. The city staff has reviewed 
the applications on the attached alcoholic beverage license renewal by class list for compliance.  

FINANCIAL IMPACT:  

Collection of Alcoholic Beverage Excise Tax Revenue. 

RECOMMENDATION:  

Review and approve each alcoholic beverage license listed on the alcoholic beverage license 
renewal by Class list for Consumption on Premise Class D, Liquor by the drink, Class E, Beer by the 
drink & Class F, Wine by the drink and Retail Package License = Class B, Beer, and Class C, Wine.  

SUGGESTED MOTIONS:  

Approve the alcoholic beverage licenses listed on the 2023 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewal by 
Class List.  

ATTACHMENTS:  

2024 Alcoholic Beverage License Renewal by Class List 

 

- Page 61 -


	Top
	1.	2024 Meeting Dates -  Public Notice
	Public Notice 2024 Meeting Dates 

	2.	Jarrard Water Services Agreement 2024
	Agenda Memo JWS Contract Renewal 2023
	JWS contract 2023

	3.	Mailbox Ordinance
	2023.141 Memo Mailbox 10-27-2023
	2023.141 Ordinance 2023-06  Mailbox Regulations Final

	4.	Renewal of Probation Contract
	2023.242 Memo Probation Contract Renewal 10-27-2023
	2023.242 Proposed Probation Contract for 2024

	5.	Tourism Services Agreement - Dahlonega Lumpkin County Convention & Visitor's Bureau
	Agenda Memo - 2024 Tourism Development Services Agreement (1)
	Draft Contract CVB Model 2023 V4

	a.	City Council Meeting Minutes - October 2, 2023
	Council Final Meeting Minutes Document 

	b.	City Council Work Session Minutes – October 16th, 2023 – Strategic Priorities #3 - Communication
	Work Session Meeting Minutes 10-16-23

	1.	Appointment of Assistant City Clerk - Sarah Hunsinger
	Sarah Hunsinger Assistant City Clerk

	2.	Proclamation - Georgia Military Veterans’ Hall of Fame, Inc
	Proclamation  Georgia Military Veterans' Hall of Fame, Inc.
	Veterans Proclamation

	4.	Financial Report - September 2023 (presented as unaudited)
	2022.09 Management Points
	September 2023 Financial Report

	5.	Zoning Map Amendment - (Parcel No. D11-033) Ordinance 2023-09
	2023.09 Mikell 10.27.2023 memo
	2023.09 Ordinance  Mikell 11-6-2023
	2023.207 Mikell Staff Report

	6.	Renewal - 2024 Alcoholic Beverage Licenses
	2024 Renewal List for Alcoholic Beverage License (1)

	Bottom

